Royal Charter

No.	Article							
1	The members of the former Association and all such persons as may hereafter become members of Body Corporate hereby constituted shall be forever hereafter one Body Corporate and Politic by the name of 'The Institute of Physics' (hereinafter referred to as 'the Institute') and by the same name shall have perpetual succession and a Common Seal, with power to break, alter and make anew the said Seal from time to time at their will and pleasure, and by the same name shall and may sue and be sue in all Courts, and in all manner of actions and suits, and shall have power to do all other matters and things incidental or appertaining to a Body Corporate.							
2	of a k	The object for which the Institute is hereby constituted is to promote the advancement and dissemination of a knowledge of and education in the science of physics, pure and applied, for the benefit of the public and the members of the Institute, and particularly for that purpose:						
	2.1	2.1 to establish, uphold and advance the standards of qualification, competence and conduct o who practise physics;						
	2.2	or are	note, encourage, guide and cooperate in the education and training of those who wish to be practising as physicists or as assistants to physicists or are interested in physics or in s connected therewith;					
	2.3		e the public interest by acting in an advisory, consultative or representative capacity in s relating to the science and practise of physics;					
	2.4	to take	over the assets and liabilities of the former Association;					
	2.5	Physical as are pertain	ime the trusteeship and management of the former Association's Benevolent Fund and is Trust Fund, together with such trust funds for medals, prizes, lectures and other purposes administered by or in connection with the former Association with the assets and liabilities ing thereto: provided always that no payment or contribution out of the assets or income of titute shall be made to the said Benevolent Fund;					
	2.6	to do a	Il such other things as are necessary for the attainment of the object of the Institute.					
3	The income and property of the Institute whencesoever derived shall be applied solely towards promotion of the object of the Institute as set forth in this Our Charter and no portion thereof shall or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend or bonus or otherwise howsoever by profit to any person who is or has been a member of the Institute, or to any person claiming the them. Provided that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good faith to any survival benefits to which they may become entitled under or by virtue of the provisions of the Brund. And provided further that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good fair reasonable and proper remuneration to any officers or servants of the Institute or to anyone alternative shall receive any financial benefit or benefit with a monetary value from the Institute of		the object of the Institute as set forth in this Our Charter and no portion thereof shall be the directly or indirectly by way of dividend or bonus or otherwise howsoever by way of operson who is or has been a member of the Institute, or to any person claiming through that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good faith to any such person to which they may become entitled under or by virtue of the provisions of the Benevolent ovided further that nothing herein contained shall prevent the payment in good faith of and proper remuneration to any officers or servants of the Institute or to anyone although a					
	3.1 repayment of reasonable out of pocket expenses;							
	3.2		payment to any company in which a member of the Council has no more than a one percent shareholding;					
	3.3	contract virtue of twenty-	with the written consent of the Council individuals may be appointed to the Council who are contracted to and may receive reasonable remuneration from a subsidiary of the Institute, who by virtue of their knowledge and expertise provide support to the Council's governance. No more than exwenty-five percent of the members of Council shall receive such remuneration and further provided that the member or members of the Council concerned must:					
		3.3.1	declare his or their interest to the Council at the earliest opportunity;					
		3.3.2	not be counted in the quorum for that part of a meeting, refrain from participation in any debate and withdraw during the vote and have no vote on any matter, where there is or may be an actual potential conflict of interest;					
		3.3.3	withdraw from the meeting for that item unless expressly invited to remain in order to provide information.					
4	The Institute may acquire and hold any land, tenements or hereditaments whatsoever within Our United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and any other part of the Commonwealth or elsewhere and from time to time to demise, alienate or otherwise dispose of the same or any part thereof.							

5	There shall be a Council of the Institute (hereinafter referred to as 'the Council') consisting of such numbers of members with such qualifications and to be elected or constituted as such members of the Council in such manner and to hold office for such period and on such terms as to re-election and otherwise as the Bylaws for the time being of the Institute (hereinafter referred to as 'the Bylaws') shall direct.
6	Of the members of the Council one shall be the President and three or more shall be the Vice-Presidents of the Institute, one shall be the Honorary Treasurer and one shall be the Honorary Secretary. The said President and Vice-Presidents, Honorary Treasurer and Honorary Secretary shall be elected in such manner and shall hold office for such period and on such terms as to re-election and otherwise as the Bylaws shall direct.
7	The Institute shall have executive staff with such functions, tenure and terms of office and appointment as the Council may from time to time appoint.
8	The government and control of the Institute and its affairs shall be vested in the Council subject to the provisions of this Our Charter and to the Bylaws. The business of the Council shall be conducted in such manner as the Council may from time to time determine.
9	Unless and until the Bylaws shall otherwise provide there shall be four classes of members of the Institute termed respectively Honorary Fellows, Fellows, Members and Associate Members.
10	The qualifications, methods and terms of admission, privileges and obligations, including liability to expulsion or suspension of members of each of the said classes respectively, shall be such as the Bylaws shall direct.
11	The Council shall alone have power to decide conclusively whether any person proposed for or seeking admission to any class of membership of the Institute has satisfied the conditions of election specified in the Bylaws.
12	An Honorary Fellow may use the designation 'Hon FlnstP', a Fellow the designation 'FinstP' and a Member the designation 'MlnstP'.
13	The meetings of the Institute shall be of such classes and shall be held for such purposes as may from time to time be prescribed by the Bylaws, and the rights of the several classes of members of the Institute of attending and voting at the said meetings shall be such or subject to such restrictions as may be so prescribed.
14	The members of the Institute entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings as the Bylaws shall direct by a Resolution passed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of such members present in person or by proxy and voting at any duly convened Special General Meeting of such members with respect to which not less than twenty-one days' notice has been given of the matters to be taken into consideration thereat, shall have power from time to time to make and when made to amend such Bylaws as to them shall seem requisite and convenient for the regulation, government and advantage of the Institute, its members and property, and for the furtherance of the object and purposes of the Institute. Provided that no such Bylaws or amendments thereof shall be repugnant to the provisions of this Our Charter or shall take effect until the same shall have been allowed by the Lords of Our Most Honourable Privy Council of which allowance a Certificate under the hand of the Clerk of Our said Privy Council shall be conclusive evidence.
15	The Council may from time to time, by a Resolution in that behalf passed at a meeting by a majority of not less than three-fourths of the members of the Council present and voting (being an absolute majority of the whole number of the members of the Council) and confirmed by a majority of not less than three-fourths of the members of the Institute entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings as the Bylaws shall direct, present in person or by proxy and voting at a General Meeting of such members held not less than one calendar month nor more than four calendar months afterwards with respect to which not less than twenty-one days' notice has been given of the intention to propose such confirmation, amend or add to this Our Charter as now granted or as hereinafter varied by any exercise of this power, and every such amendment and addition shall when allowed by Us, Our Heirs or Successors in Council become effectual so that this Our Charter shall thenceforward continue and operate as though it had been originally granted and made accordingly.
16	It shall be lawful for the Institute with the sanction of the Council and an Extraordinary General Meeting of the members of the Institute entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings as the Bylaws shall direct, called for the purpose and with respect to which not less than twenty-one days' notice has been given, to surrender this Our Charter subject to the sanction of Us, Our Heirs or Successors in Council and upon such terms as We or They may consider fit and to wind up or otherwise deal with the affairs of

the Institute in such manner as shall be directed by the Council and such General Meeting having due regard to the liabilities of the Institute for the time being. If upon the winding up or dissolution of the Institute there remains, after the satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property whatsoever the same shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the Institute, but shall be given or transferred to some other charitable institution or institutions having objects similar to the object of the Institute, and which shall prohibit the distribution of its or their income and property among its or their members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Institute under or by virtue of Article 3 hereof, such institution or institutions to be determined by the members of the Institute, at or before the time of dissolution, and if and so far as effect cannot be given to such provision, then to some other charitable object. Nothing in this constitution shall authorise an application of the property of the charity for purposes which are not charitable in accordance with section 7 Charities and Trustee investment (Scotland) Act 2005.

And We do hereby for Us, Our Heirs and Successors grant and declare that these Our Letters or the enrolment or exemplification thereof shall be in all things good, firm, valid and effectual according to the true intent and meaning of the same and shall be taken, construed and adjudged in all Our Courts and elsewhere in the most favourable and beneficial sense and for the best advantage of the Institute any misrecital, nonrecital, omission, defect, imperfection, matter or thing whatsoever notwithstanding.

Bylaws

17

1		e' means The Institute of Physics and 'the Charter' means the Royal Charter d from time to time by Supplemental Charter or otherwise.				
	Words in these Bylaws importing the singular number only shall include the plural number and vice versa.					
2	<u>Words</u>	<u>Meanings</u>				
	Annual General Meeting	The annual general meeting of the Institute held in accordance with these Bylaws.				
	Associate Member	A person admitted in to the associate class of member of the Institute.				
	Chief Executive Officer	The person who is from time to time appointed the group Chief Executive of the Institute.				
	the Council	The Council of the Institute duly appointed for the time being.				
	Executive Officers	Persons holding executive positions being appointed thereto by the Council.				
	these Bylaws	These Bylaws as from time to time amended in accordance with the Charter.				
	Chartered Physicist	A person entitled to use the title chartered physicist pursuant to these Bylaws.				
	Disciplinary Committee	The disciplinary committee established by the Council under Bylaw 75 and referred to in Bylaw 20.				
	Extraordinary General Meeting	An extraordinary general meeting of the Institute held in accordance with these Bylaws.				
	Fellow	A person admitted in to the Fellow class of member of the Institute.				
	General Meeting	A general meeting of the Institute.				
	Honorary Fellow	A person admitted into the Honorary Fellow class of member pursuant to Bylaw 4.				
	Honorary Secretary	The person from time to time appointed to the position of honorary secretary of the Institute.				
	Honorary Treasurer	The person from time to time appointed to the position of honorary treasurer of the Institute.				
	Member	A person admitted into the Member class of member of the Institute.				

	members		Those persons admitted as Honorary Fellows, Fellows, Members and Associate Members.	
	Nomin	ations Committee	The nominations committee established by the Council under Bylaw 74.	
	the off	ice	The registered office of the Institute.	
	Presid	ent	The person who is the president of the Institute from time to time.	
	Presid	ent-elect	The person who is from time to time the President-elect of the Institute who may also be referred to as the Deputy President.	
	Regist	er	The register of members and of professional accreditations including those for which the Institute holds a licence to award kept by the Council pursuant to these Bylaws.	
	Rules	of Conduct	The rules of conduct, also known as the code of conduct, published by the Council from time to time.	
	Vice-P	resident	Means any person who has been elected vice-president of the Institute.	
	in writi	ng	Written, printed or lithographed or partly one and partly another and other modes of representing or reproducing words in a visible form including electronically.	
3	The me Membe		shall consist of Honorary Fellows, Fellows, Members and Associate	
	Membe	rship classes		
4	Election to Honorary Fellowship can be made only by resolution of the Council. Honorary Fellows of the Institute shall not be required to pay any entrance fee, annual or other membership subscription. The total number of Honorary Fellows for the time being shall not exceed one hundred.			
5		Candidates for election or transfer to any class of membership of the Institute shall have satisfied the requirements published by the Council.		
6	Notwithstanding the provisions of these Bylaws the Council may in exceptional circumstances of qualifications, experience or achievement in physics or a science allied thereto elect candidates to an appropriate class of membership.			
7		pplication for election ped by the Council.	or transfer to any class of membership of the Institute shall be in a form	
8	writing b	Every person who is elected to any class of membership shall be informed of his or her election in writing by the Chief Executive Officer or his or her designated representative. No election or transfer will become effective until any fees and subscriptions payable on such election or transfer shall have been paid.		
	Charte	ed Physicist and ot	her professional qualifications	
9	Every person who at the twenty-eighth day of February 2001 was a Corporate Member of the Institute shall be entitled to use the title Chartered Physicist and the abbreviation CPhys according to regulations prescribed by the Council. Every person admitted to any of the classes of membership after the twenty-eighth day of February 2001 who shall:			
	9.1	recognised by the C experience in respon	d as a physicist and have obtained an Integrated Masters degree ouncil for the purpose of this Clause of this Bylaw and have had nsible work including a structured training course which demands a so or its applications as shall satisfy the Council; or	
	9.2		ssional competence to an equivalent standard demonstrated through a lemic qualification, training and experience as shall satisfy the Council	
		entitled to use the tit ons prescribed by the	le 'Chartered Physicist' and the abbreviation CPhys according to council.	
10			egister to be kept of the names of Chartered Physicists and of all the to which each belongs and giving his or her last known address.	
	Membe	rship and Chartered	Physicist subscriptions	
11	The fees and subscriptions payable by all members of the Institute and by those with professional			

	accorda vary the	ations shall be determined by Resolution of the Institute in General Meeting passed in ance with the requirements of Article 14 of the Charter, and any such resolution may specify, or especification of, circumstances in which the reduction or waiver of subscriptions may be				
12	permitted. 12.1 Subject to the Council's discretion subscriptions shall for any year be due either on the day of January in that year or on the anniversary of members' election to membership. Payment of subscriptions shall be made by members either in full on the due date or by instalments on such terms as the Council may determine.					
	12.2	A member whose fee or annual subscription is not more than two months in arrears shall be entitled to receive a copy of any matter published by or on behalf of the Institute upon such terms as the Council shall determine.				
13	subscrip	uncil may in any special case reduce or remit the entrance fee, transfer fee or annual otion or the arrears of annual subscriptions of any member. All matters of doubt or of difficulty to subscriptions or fees shall be decided by the Council.				
14	The Council may re-admit to membership in the class to which he or she formerly belonged any person whose membership has terminated, provided he or she has satisfied the Council that he or she is worthy of such re-admission and pays such amounts in respect of entrance fees or arrears of fees and subscriptions as the Council may determine.					
	Rules	of Conduct				
15	All members shall act in accordance with the Rules of Conduct as published by the Council from time to time and they shall do nothing that may bring the profession of physicist or the Institute into disrepute.					
	Resignation					
16	Members may resign their membership by informing the office and they shall thereupon cease to be members. Members resigning or removed during the currency of any year before payment of their annual subscription for such year shall remain liable to pay their subscription for such year notwithstanding their resignation or removal.					
	Discipline and expulsion					
17	The Council may suspend from membership for a period of at least one year or expel from membership any member who:					
	17.1	is convicted of any criminal offence;				
	17.2	is held by the Council to have failed to observe these Bylaws;				
	17.3	is held by the Council to have failed to observe the Rules of Conduct in place from time to time;				
	17.4	engages in any activity that in the opinion of the Council is inconsistent with him or her remaining a member;				
	17.5	is held by the Council to have acted in a way that is detrimental to the welfare of the Institute;				
	17.6	is held by the Council to have been guilty of any act or default discreditable to the profession of physics.				
18	Any action taken by the Council against a member under the provisions of Bylaw 17 shall follow an investigation conducted in accordance with regulations made under the provision of Bylaw 19 and shall be approved by a resolution of the Council.					
19	The Council shall make regulations for investigating any complaint against a member which, if found to be justified, may result in expulsion or suspension of the member under the provisions of Bylaw 17. A statement of such regulations shall be issued on the authority of the Council and any member shall be entitled to receive a copy on request. The regulations may be amended from time to time by the Council.					
20	For the purpose of investigating complaints under the provisions of these Bylaws, the Council shall delegate responsibility to the Disciplinary Committee. The powers and functions of the Disciplinary Committee shall be subject to such regulations as the Council may prescribe. On completion of any investigation of a member the Committee shall submit a written report and recommendation to the Council. Any member of the Institute may be called to give evidence before the Disciplinary Committee.					

21	Unless otherwise determined by the Council, the resignation of a member shall not be accepted whilst a complaint against the member is being investigated by the Disciplinary Committee or is under consideration by the Council.				
22	A decision as to expulsion or suspension shall rest solely with the Council, by resolution in accordance with Bylaw 17. The Council shall make regulations to cover the disciplinary procedures, including an independent appeals procedure.				
23	publicat	ents concerning the expulsion or suspension of a member shall be issued in an Institute tion. The Council may determine by its sole discretion whether or not any other announcements be made in the public interest.			
24	the cas other pr or design	Imber who is expelled or suspended shall deliver to the Council, for cancellation or retention as a might be, any certificate of membership or certificate referring to such membership or to any refessional designation awarded by the Institute. The member will cease to use any initial letters gnation which the member was previously entitled to use under the Bylaws unless or until such on or suspension is appropriately modified or revoked.			
	Institute Institute of all m	hbers who shall resign or be expelled from or shall otherwise cease to be members of the e, shall forthwith return to the office all such property of the Institute or items for which the e is responsible, as they may have in their custody, and they shall remain liable for the payment oneys due from them (including their subscription) at the date of their resignation, expulsion or on of membership.			
25	may als	ion to the power of expulsion or suspension on any of the grounds cited in Bylaw 17 the Council to reprimand or admonish any member instead of expelling or suspending the member, and Il for a written undertaking from the member as to his or her future conduct.			
26	subscri	vent of non-payment by a member of any fee, subscription or any instalment of any fee or otion due to the Institute within two calendar months after the same became due, membership institute will be terminated.			
27	The rights, privileges and obligations of every member of the Institute shall be personal transferable or transmissible by operation of law or otherwise. Such rights, privileges at shall be subject to the Charter and to these Bylaws and may be varied or abrogated by amendments to the Charter and to these Bylaws without any sanction, approval, conse by any individual or class or other means in addition to the procedure laid down by Article Charter.				
	Procedures at General Meetings				
28		ual General Meeting shall be held once in every calendar year at such time and place as may rmined by the Council. Not more than fifteen months shall elapse between Annual General gs.			
29	An Annual General Meeting and any other General Meeting shall be called by twenty-one days' notice in writing to all members. The accidental omission to give notice of any meeting to or the non-receipt by any member shall not invalidate the proceedings at any meeting.				
30	All Resolutions to be considered at an Annual General Meeting must be contained in the Notice of Meeting and can be submitted by:				
	30.1	resolution of the Council;			
	30.2	not less than twenty members in writing and submitted to the Office.			
31		All business that is transacted at an Annual General Meeting will require the support of a simple majority of those voting in person or by proxy with the exception of:			
	31.1	amendments to the Charter which will require the support of 75 percent of those voting in person or by proxy;			
	31.2	amendments to these Bylaws which will require the support of 66 percent of those voting in person or by proxy.			
32	An Extraordinary General meeting may be called by:				
32					
32	32.1	the Council at any time;			

33	An Extraordinary General Meeting shall be convened in the same manner as an Annual General Meeting.					
34	At every General Meeting twenty members present in person at the commencement of the business shall be a quorum, unless otherwise expressly provided by these Bylaws.					
35	If within fifteen minutes from the time appointed for a meeting a quorum is not present then:					
	35.1 the meeting if convened on the requisition of members shall be dissolved;					
	35.2	in any other case it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the following week at the same time and at such place as the Chair of such meeting shall announce thereat;				
	35.3	if at such adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within fifteen minutes from the time appointed for the meeting then the members present shall be a quorum.				
36	The Prewill be:	sident will preside as Chair at every General Meeting. In the absence of the President the Chair				
	36.1	the President-elect; or				
	36.2	the Honorary Secretary; or				
	36.3	one of the Vice-Presidents in order of length of service; or, in the absence of all the Vice- Presidents;				
	36.4	a member of the Council in order of length of service; or, in the absence of any member of the Council;				
	36.5	a member chosen by the meeting.				
37	The Chair may, with the consent of the meeting, adjourn a General Meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than business left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place. When a General Meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original meeting. Save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.					
38	hands of	At any General Meeting a Resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on by a show of hands of those present and voting in person added to the proxy votes cast. The Chair will announce the count of votes for and against and declare the resolution carried or not carried accordingly.				
39		ember shall have one vote which may be given at all General Meetings either personally or by nly members shall be entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings.				
40	No perso	on shall be appointed a proxy who is not entitled to vote at a meeting for which the proxy is				
41	attorney	The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointer or the appointer's attorney.				
		rument appointing a proxy shall be in such form as the Council may from time to time decide.				
42	The instrument appointing a proxy and the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed shall be deposited at the office by post or by electronic meansnot less than forty-eight hours before the time for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the proxy proposes to vote, but no instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid after the expiration of six months from its date.					
43	In the ca	ise of an equality of votes at any meeting the Chair of the meeting shall be entitled to a second g vote.				
	Meeting	s of the Institute				
44	The Council may at its discretion arrange for meetings of members and such other persons as the Council shall decide to be held for the advancement and dissemination of a knowledge of and education in the science of physics, pure or applied, or of matters considered by the Council likely to further the objects of the Institute by means of lectures, discussions or otherwise. The Council shall determine the conditions of admission to such meetings and the manner in which they shall be conducted.					
45		Subject to the provisions of these Bylaws all meetings of or conducted by the Institute or for which the Institute is responsible shall be held at such times and places and shall be conducted as the Council				

		ermine. The Council may, if it wishes, decide whether a report of the proceedings of any or any part of such report, may or may not be published.		
	Nations	and Branches		
46	Nations and Branches (hereafter referred to as Branches) of the Institute shall be created by the Council on geographic boundaries.			
47	The Council may at its discretion upon receipt of a request to that effect from not less than five members resident in any district create a Branch in such district to further the objects of the Institute by holding meetings or otherwise.			
48	The Cou	ncil shall have power to dissolve a Branch.		
49	Each Branch shall be constituted and its affairs shall be conducted in accordance with and subject to these Bylaws and in accordance with such rules and regulations and in such manner as may from time to time be approved by the Council. All honorary officers and the majority of the members other than honorary officers of any executive committee of each Branch shall be elected by members of that Branch from amongst members of the Institute.			
50	the Brand such a po	ship of a Branch shall be open to all members of the Institute whose recorded address is within the boundaries without payment of any further fee in addition to that payable to the Institute by erson in accordance with these Bylaws. A person shall ipso facto cease to be a member of a on ceasing to be a member of the Institute.		
51	of the Ins	ncil may contribute towards the formation and maintenance of a Branch from the general funds stitute. The Branch shall present its accounts annually or otherwise to the Council as the may require.		
52		shall not, without the express prior authority of the Council, discuss with any outside body any professional conduct or status.		
	Groups			
53	Groups t	Upon receipt of a request from not less than five members the Council may at its discretion create Groups to promote by holding meetings or otherwise the advancement and dissemination of knowledge.		
54	as the Co	Membership of a Group shall be open to all members of the Institute on payment of such further fees as the Council shall determine in addition to those payable to the Institute by such a person in accordance with these Bylaws.		
55	Each Group shall be constituted and its affairs shall be conducted in accordance with and subject to these Bylaws, and in accordance with such rules and regulations and in such manner as may from time to time be approved by the Council. All honorary officers and the majority of the members other than honorary officers of any executive committee of each Group shall be elected by members of that Group from amongst the members of the Institute unless the Council otherwise determines.			
56	The Group shall not discuss with an outside body on any matter whatsoever beyond those concerning arrangements for meetings or the supply of technical information for the benefit of the members of the Group, without the express prior authority of the Council.			
	Council			
57	The management and control of the Institute shall be vested in the Council. Subject to Bylaw 58, only members shall be eligible for service on the Council. The Council shall be constituted as follows:			
	57.1	the President;		
	57.2	the President-elect, who shall serve as the Deputy President;		
	57.3	no fewer than three Vice-Presidents;		
	57.4	the Honorary Secretary;		
	57.5	the Honorary Treasurer;		
	57.6	ten Ordinary Members;		
58	The Council may, if it considers fit, co-opt up to three members to ordinary membership of the Council to bring additional skills and capabilities on to the Council as required. A co-opted member of Council will have a term of office of one year and may only be co-opted under the same provision for a maximum term of three consecutive years.			

59	3 of the	All service on the Council shall be honorary and without remuneration except as provided for by Article 3 of the Charter. No salaried Executive Officer of the Institute shall be eligible to serve on the Council in any capacity or within three years of leaving an executive post.				
60	selected shall reta	Any casual vacancy occurring on the Council may be filled by the Council. The name of a person selected to fill any casual vacancy shall be published for the information of members and such a person shall retain such office for so long as the member of Council he or she was appointed to replace would have retained such office were he or she to have remained in office.				
61	commer Septeml fill a cas	ncing on the per. Never ual vacand	of measuring the length of service of members of Council, a year means the period e first day of October in each year and terminating on the following thirtieth day of theless, in reckoning the length of service on the Council of a member appointed to by in accordance with Bylaw 60_the length of such service shall if less than six and if more than six months shall be reckoned as one year as hereinafter defined.			
62	The tern	The term of office of members of Council shall be:				
	62.1		dent shall normally hold office for two years after having held office as President- two years.			
	62.2		orary Treasurer shall hold office for four years and shall be eligible for re-election for er period of four years.			
	62.3	the Hondone furth	orary Secretary shall hold office for four years and shall be eligible for re-election for er period of four years.			
	62.4	Vice-Pre	sidents shall hold office for four years.			
	62.5	Ordinary	Members shall hold office for four years.			
			cil shall not be eligible for re-election to the Council at any time during the year etirement from the Council.			
63			t or difficulty regarding eligibility for office or service on the Council or retirement decided by the Council.			
64	The office	ce of a mer	mber of the Council shall be vacated in any of the following events, namely:			
	64.1	if the me	mber becomes bankrupt or compounded with the member's creditors;			
	64.2	if the me	if the member is or may be suffering from mental disorder and either;			
		64.2.1	he or she is admitted to hospital in pursuance of an application for admission for treatment under the relevant mental health legislation;			
		64.2.2	an Order is made by a Court having jurisdiction (whether in the United Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters concerning mental disorder for his or her detention or for the appointment of a receiver or curator bonis or other person to exercise powers with respect to his or her property or affairs.			
	64.3	if the member resigns his or her office by giving written notice addressed to the Honorary Secretary and left at the office;				
	64.4	if the member has been convicted of any offence involving dishonesty or deception;				
	64.5	if the member ceases for any reason to be a member of the Institute;				
	64.6	64.6 if the member is removed from office by Resolution of the members in General Meeting.				
	Council Member nomination and election					
65	Presider the Coul in the sa pass all assess t	By 1 March each year, a notice of vacancies arising to any one or more of the offices of President, President-elect, Vice-President, Honorary Treasurer and Honorary Secretary and ordinary member of the Council will be published by the Council. Any member may express an interest to Council by 1 April in the same year, indicating that they would like to be considered for the vacancy The Council shall pass all such expressions of interest or nominations to the Nominations Committee which shall then assess the candidates and use its best endeavours to select candidates with such skills and expertise as are necessary or desirable for the Council at the time of such election.				
66	Not later than twenty-one days before the AGM, the Council shall send to each member a ballot p in written or electronic form containing the names of all persons standing for election					
	If the nu	If the number of candidates nominated for any class of vacancy does not exceed the vacancies in that				

	class, the candidates so nominated shall be deemed to be duly elected.
	The ballot shall close not less than forty-eight hours before the AGM
	The result of the ballot shall be published for the information of members.
67	The form and content of ballot paper shall be such as the Council shall prescribe.
	Any ballot paper found by the scrutineers to violate these provisions shall be cancelled.
68	Two or more scrutineers shall be chosen by the Council not later than seven days before the Annual General Meeting to be responsible for supervising the counting of ballot papers and the recording of results. In the event of a tie for any office, the scrutineers shall submit the names of the candidates so tying to the Chair of the meeting, who shall determine by casting vote which of such candidates shall be elected.
69	The persons elected, with the exception of co-opted members of the Council, shall take office on 1 October following their election. Co-opted members of Council shall take office immediately upon their appointment unless otherwise specified by Council.
	Council meetings
70	The Council shall meet at least once each year and as often as the business of the Institute may require, and may adjourn and regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. Except as hereinafter provided meetings of the Council shall be convened by the Honorary Secretary. The President, any two Vice-Presidents or any three members of the Council may convene a meeting of the Council. At every meeting of the Council five shall constitute a quorum.
71	The continuing members of the Council may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but if and so long as their number is reduced below five the continuing members of the Council may act for the purpose of increasing the number of members of the Council to that number or of summoning a General Meeting of members, but for no other purpose.
72	The President shall preside at all meetings of the Council. In the absence of the President, , a member of the Council chosen by the members of the Council present shall preside.
73	Subject to the Charter and these Bylaws questions arising at any meeting of the Council shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members of the Council present, each of whom shall have one vote. In case of equality of votes the Chair shall have a second or casting vote. Voting shall be by ballot if any two members of the Council present so demand.
	Boards and committees
74	The Council may appoint boards, committees and ad hoc groups consisting of such persons as in its discretion it may decide and with such terms of reference and such powers as the Council may prescribe and may delegate such of its powers as it may think fit to any such board, committee or ad hoc group. Such boards, committees and ad hoc groups shall be constituted in accordance with and shall conform to the provisions of these Bylaws and shall be responsible to and make regular reports to the Council and all decisions taken by such boards, committees and ad hoc groups shall be subject to the confirmation by the Council unless the Council shall, otherwise determine. Provided always that no Resolution of any meeting of a board, committee or ad hoc group, to which the Council has delegated any of its powers, shall have any effect or validity unless (a) a majority of the members present at the meeting and entitled to vote are members, or (b) such resolution is confirmed by the Council.
75	No acts done by the Council or any board, committee or ad hoc group appointed by the Council or by any person acting as a member of such shall be invalidated by reason only of any disqualification of or defect in the appointment of any member or members of the Council or such Committee.
	Council powers
76	The Council shall cause minutes to be kept of the proceedings of General Meetings of the Institute, of meetings of the Council and of boards, committees and ad hoc groups appointed by the Council in accordance with Bylaw 74. Such minutes if purporting to be signed by the Chair of the meeting to which they relate or of the next succeeding meeting shall be prima facie evidence of the matters stated therein.
77	The Council shall direct and manage the property and affairs of the Institute and may exercise all such powers of the Institute as may be exercised by the Institute (including borrowing powers) subject nevertheless to the provisions of the Charter and of these Bylaws and to such regulations (not being

	inconsistent with the provisions of the Charter and these Bylaws) as may be prescribed by the Institute in General Meeting and in particular and subject as aforesaid may sell or dispose of or otherwise deal with any of the property or moneys of the Institute. The business of the Council shall be conducted in such manner as the Council may from time to time prescribe.
78	The Council may arrange to publish papers or documents in any manner which it may deem advisable when such publication is considered by the Council to be likely to further the objects of the Institute. Any person or persons whose contribution is published by the Institute shall, if so required, assign the copyright therein to the Institute. The manuscripts of all such papers shall belong to the Institute. All materials related to the submission and publication of such contributions shall also belong to the Institute.
79	The Council alone or jointly with other organisations may make such arrangements as it shall from time to time think fit, by the holding of examinations or otherwise, for the purpose of assessing the adequacy of the training, qualifications, knowledge, skill, experience and personal qualities of any candidate for admission to any class of membership, professional qualification for which it holds a licence or for the award of the designation of 'Chartered Physicist' and for the purpose of awarding any certificates or diplomas that may from time to time be authorised; and the Council shall prepare and publish regulations and may rescind, vary or add to any of the said regulations as it thinks fit.
80	The Council may remunerate examiners, assessors or other examination officials out of the general funds of the Institute.
81	Subject to such regulations and on payment of such fees (if any) as the Council may from time to time prescribe, the Council may issue to any member a diploma or certificate showing the grade of membership to which he or she belongs. Every such diploma or certificate shall remain the property of, and shall on demand be returned to, the Institute. Every such diploma or certificate if purporting to confer any status or qualification beyond the mere status of membership, either with or without a statement of the class of membership of the member to whom it relates, shall contain on its face a statement to the effect that it is not issued under or by virtue of any statutory or Government sanction or authority, but by the authority of the Institute only.
82	The Honorary Secretary shall be responsible to the Council for the administration and the coordination of the affairs of the Institute generally, except those relating to finance.
83	The Honorary Treasurer shall be responsible to the Council for the administration of the financial affairs of the Institute and for ensuring that proper accounts are kept in accordance with these Bylaws.
84	Every member of the Council and every Executive Officer of the Institute may at the absolute discretion of the Council be indemnified out of the funds of the Institute against all liability incurred by him or her as such member or Officer in defending any proceedings whether civil or criminal in which judgment has been given in his or her favour or in which he or she has been acquitted or in connection with any application by virtue of which relief has been granted to him or her by the Court.
85	Save as hereinafter provided the Council shall have exclusive power to appoint, remove and suspend the Executive Officers and to determine their powers and duties and decide what, if any, securities are to be taken from them, and to make such arrangements and enter into such agreements with them, or any of them, as the Council shall think fit, and to pay them such salaries and wages and such remuneration by way of pensions, gratuities or otherwise howsoever and to make such provision for and grant such pensions and gratuities to them after their retirement from the service of the Institute as the Council may think proper.
86	The Chief Executive Officer, as head of the Executive Officers of the Institute, will be responsible to the Council through the Honorary Secretary and Honorary Treasurer.
	Seal
87	The Council shall provide for the safe custody of the Seal, which shall only be used by the authority of the Council as delegated to the Executive Officers from time to time.
	Financial
88	The Council shall cause proper books of account to be kept in respect of all sums of money received and expended by the Institute and of the matters in respect of which such receipts and expenditure take place, all sales and purchase of goods by the Institute and the assets and liabilities of the Institute. Proper books of account shall not be deemed to be kept if they do notgive a true and fair view of the state of the Institute's affairs and to explain its transactions.

	and accounts of the Institute shall be kept at the office or at such other place or places as the Council shall think fit, and shall be open to inspection of members at such times during business hours, and subject to any such reasonable restrictions as to the time and manner of inspecting the same as may from time to time be laid down by the Council.
90	The Council shall at least once in every year cause to be prepared and placed before the Institute in General Meeting the income and expenditure account and balance sheet.
91	Every balance sheet shall be signed on behalf of the Council by two members thereof, and shall have attached to it a report by the Council with respect to the state of the Institute's affairs and the Auditors' report.
92	A copy of the income and expenditure account and balance sheet and the Council's and Auditors' reports shall not less than twenty-one clear days previously to the date of the meeting be sent to every member who is entitled to receive notice of General Meetings and to the Auditors.
93	Auditors of the Institute shall be appointed and their duties shall be regulated in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Acts 1985 and 1989, the members of the Council being treated as the Directors mentioned in those Acts.
94	The Institute shall have power to keep a proper working balance on current account at its bankers, and also to keep moneys on deposit account.
95	The Institute shall have the general power of investment provided under the legislation applying from time to time to charitable organisations.
	Notice
96	A notice may be served by the Institute upon any member either: a) personally; b) by sending it through the post in a prepaid letter to the member's address; or c) by giving it using electronic means to the member's address.
97	A notice of a meeting shall be deemed to be duly served forty-eight hours after the same shall have been posted or sent by electronic means and shall be exclusive of the day for which it is given and shall specify the place, the day and the hour of meeting and in case of special business the general nature of such business, and shall be given to all members in manner provided by these Bylaws. The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to or the non-receipt of such notice by any person entitled to receive the same shall not invalidate the proceedings at that meeting.
98	Subject as aforesaid any notice sent to any member shall be deemed to have been duly served forty-eight hours after notice was dispatched from the Institute and in proving such service it shall be sufficient to prove that the notice was sent to an address provided for that purpose.